**RECEIVED**

**Feb 06 2026**

**SC Court of Appeals**

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

Appeal from Abbeville County  
The Honorable Frank R. Addy, Circuit Court Judge

---

THE STATE,

Appellant,

vs.

RI'SHON KELTARIAN GILLIAM,

Respondent.

APPELLATE CASE NO 2024-001400

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

JOSHUA A. EDWARDS  
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211  
(803) 734-3727

DAVID M. STUMBO  
Solicitor, Eighth Judicial Circuit

102 Court Square, Room 107  
Abbeville, SC 29620  
(864) 366-5312

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT

##

## **STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE ON APPEAL**

S.C. Code § 24-13-40 provides that defendants are entitled to credit for time served in pretrial incarceration, except when a defendant “commits a subsequent crime while out on bond.” Gilliam pleaded guilty, but the trial court refused to consider evidence that Gilliam committed subsequent crimes while out on bond because Gilliam had not been convicted of those charges. Was it error for the trial court to give credit for time served without making this determination?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On May 12, 2023, Respondent Ri'Shon Gilliam was arrested for three crimes which were alleged to have occurred on that same day: trafficking methamphetamine, possession of a firearm by a person convicted of a violent crime, and another drug crime. (R.p.7–8, p.52–53). On May 19, 2023, Gilliam was arrested for burglary, criminal conspiracy, and grand larceny for events that occurred on May 11, 2023. (R.p.6, p.52–53). Gilliam spent 342 days in pretrial incarceration before bonding out on these charges. (R.p.14–15). After making bond, Gilliam was arrested again on June 19, 2024, and charged with three additional crimes: trafficking in methamphetamine, driving under suspension, and the newly-enacted crime of commission of a violent crime while under a bond order. See S.C. Code Ann. § 17-15-270 (making it a crime “for a person to commit a violent crime while under a bond order or other pretrial release order for a previous violent crime”).

On July 18, 2024, Gilliam pleaded guilty to three crimes stemming from the 2023 arrests: criminal conspiracy, trafficking methamphetamine, and the gun charge. The State and defense negotiated a 14-year sentence. (R.p.3). The State dismissed the 2024 charges pursuant to the plea agreement. However, the State argued Gilliam was not entitled to credit for time served in pretrial detention for the 2023 offenses because he committed subsequent crimes while out on bond. The State cited South Carolina Code section 24-13-40, which was amended in 2023 to provide that “credit for time served prior to trial and sentencing shall not be given . . . when the prisoner commits a subsequent crime while out on bond . . . .” S.C. Code Ann. § 24-13-40(3). Gilliam acknowledged that “a plain reading of the statute would . . . say that he doesn’t get any credit,” but nonetheless argued he was entitled to credit for time served because he had not been convicted of the 2024 crimes and was entitled to the presumption of innocence regarding those

charges. (R.p.14–15). The circuit court agreed with Gilliam and ordered that he be given credit for time served in pretrial detention for the 2023 charges. The State filed a motion for reconsideration, providing documentation of the facts supporting the subsequent charges and offering to proffer testimony to establish Gilliam had in fact committed the subsequently-charged crimes. (R.p.52–53). Without holding an evidentiary hearing, the trial court denied the motion in a written order filed August 13, 2024. (R.p.54–56). This appeal follows.

## **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

A question of statutory interpretation is a question of law, which is subject to de novo review.

State v. Taylor, 436 S.C. 28, 34, 870 S.E.2d 168, 171 (2022).

## ARGUMENT

**The trial court erroneously refused to determine whether Gilliam committed a subsequent crime while out on bond for the offense to which he pleaded guilty and was therefore unable to determine whether Gilliam was lawfully entitled to credit for time served in pretrial incarceration under S.C. Code § 24-13-40.**

The trial court erroneously refused to apply the plain terms of South Carolina Code section 24-13-40, which provides that a criminal defendant, upon conviction, shall not receive credit for time served in pretrial incarceration if the defendant committed a subsequent crime while out on bond. The trial court reasoned Gilliam was presumed innocent of the subsequent crimes for which he was arrested, but it made no effort to determine whether Gilliam had in fact committed the subsequent crimes. Had the court considered the evidence offered by the State, it would almost certainly have concluded Gilliam committed the subsequent crimes and was therefore precluded from being credited with time spent in pretrial incarceration for the crimes for which he pled guilty.<sup>1</sup> This Court should reverse and remand for a hearing to determine whether Gilliam committed subsequent crimes while out on bond such that he is not entitled to credit for time served in pretrial incarceration.

There is no constitutional right to credit for time served in pretrial incarceration. State v. Sanders, 251 S.C. 431, 445–46, 163 S.E.2d 220, 228 (1968). Rather, a defendant’s right to credit for time served is controlled by statute. Id. See also Martin v. Pennsylvania Bd. of Prob. & Parole, 840 A.2d 299, 304 (Pa. 2003) (“It is well established that there is no constitutional right to pre-sentence confinement credit and that credit statutes stem principally from the recognition that pre-sentence detention is often the result of indigency.”); Wade R. Habeeb, Right to Credit for Time Spent in Custody Prior to Trial or Sentence, 77 A.L.R.3d 182 (1977). South Carolina

---

<sup>1</sup> Gilliam was arrested with 33 grams of methamphetamine in his pants pocket. (R.p.52–53).

Code section 24-13-40 governs the computation of time served by prisoners. It provides that “full credit against the sentence must be given for time served prior to trial and sentencing . . . .” S.C. Code Ann. § 24-13-40. However, on June 20, 2023, the legislature amended the law to provide that “credit for time served prior to trial and sentencing shall not be given . . . when the prisoner commits a subsequent crime while out on bond . . . .” S.C. Code Ann. § 24-13-40(3). Thus Gilliam is precluded by statute from receiving credit for time served in pretrial incarceration if he “committed” a subsequent crime while out on bond.

In interpreting a statute, the court's primary purpose is to ascertain and effectuate the actual intent of the legislature. State v. Grooms, 343 S.C. 248, 252, 540 S.E.2d 99, 101 (2000). Its words must be given their plain and ordinary meaning without resort to subtle or forced construction to limit or expand the statute's operation. Id. Where a statute's language is plain, unambiguous, and conveys a clear and definite meaning, the rules of statutory interpretation are not needed, and the court has no right to impose another meaning. State v. Taylor, 436 S.C. 28, 34, 870 S.E.2d 168, 171 (2022). However, if a statute is ambiguous, the court must construe its terms. Id.

In enacting § 24-13-40(3), the legislature unambiguously provided that defendants who commit crimes while out on bond “shall not” receive credit for time spent in pretrial incarceration. Therefore, in order to effectuate a proper sentence, trial courts must determine whether a defendant “committed” a subsequent crime while out on bond. The trial court in this case simply refused to do so.

Instead, the court held that § 24-13-40(3) only applies when a defendant has been convicted of a subsequent crime. This was an error of law. If the legislature intended to require a conviction to trigger § 40(3), it would have said so. Instead, it provided that credit should be

denied when a defendant “commits” a subsequent crime. That “committed” does not equal “convicted of” is illustrated by §17-15-270, which makes it a crime for a person to “commit” a violent crime while under a bond order for a previous violent crime. In this closely-related statute, enacted contemporaneously with the amendment to § 24-13-40, the legislature chose to use both terms, but in entirely different ways. The legislature provided:

It is unlawful for a person **to commit** a violent crime while under a bond order or other pretrial release order for a previous violent crime. **If the person is convicted** of the subsequent violent crime, and is thereafter **convicted** of a violation of this section, the person is guilty of a felony and must be imprisoned not more than five years.

S.C. Code Ann. § 17-15-270 (emphasis added). Thus the “commission” of a crime and the defendant’s later being convicted of that crime are two distinct events with different meanings (and different consequences) under the statutory scheme. Section 24-13-40 does not require a “conviction” in order to trigger subsection 3. It only requires that a defendant “commit” a subsequent crime while out on bond.

The question then becomes procedural; what proof is required to show that a defendant has committed a subsequent crime? The State submits the trial court must find based on a preponderance of the evidence that the defendant committed a subsequent crime while out on bond.

In State v. Miller, 122 S.C. 468, 115 S.E. 742, 745 (1923), the supreme court considered the appropriate standard for trial courts to employ in hearings to determine whether a suspended sentence should be activated. The court held the defendant was not entitled to a trial on the issue. Instead, the “nature of the inquiry and extent of the investigation to be conducted by the court of general sessions in determining whether the condition of a suspended sentence has been violated are matters that rest in the sound discretion of that court.” Id. However, “the authority

of the court of general sessions to revoke such suspension of sentence may not be capriciously or arbitrarily exercised, but should always be predicated upon an evidentiary showing of fact tending to establish violation of the conditions.” Id. Miller had been convicted of an additional crime while his sentence was under suspension, but Miller contested the validity of that conviction. The court explained the trial court’s determination whether Miller had violated the conditions of his suspended sentence did not depend “upon the validity of the conviction . . . .” Id. Rather, the trial court was simply required to determine based on the evidence before it whether Miller had violated the conditions of his release. The Miller standard continues to be used in probation revocation hearings. See State v. Lee, 350 S.C. 125, 131, 564 S.E.2d 372, 375 (Ct. App. 2002); State v. Allen, 370 S.C. 88, 94, 634 S.E.2d 653, 655 (2006).

In State v. Burgins, 464 S.W.3d 298 (Tenn. 2015), the Supreme Court of Tennessee considered the appropriate standard for determining whether a defendant violated the conditions of his bond justifying bond revocation. The court surveyed the law from various states, explaining courts have adopted standards ranging from probable cause to clear and convincing evidence. Id. at 308–09. The court held a preponderance of the evidence standard was appropriate:

At the close of proof, if the trial court finds that the State has shown, by a preponderance of the evidence, that the defendant has violated a condition of release, **has committed a criminal offense while released on bond**, or has engaged in conduct resulting in the obstruction of the orderly and expeditious progress of the trial or other proceedings, then the trial court may either revoke bail and hold the defendant until trial or continue bail with the possibility of additional conditions or an increased bond amount.

Id. at 311 (emphasis added).

Just as in probation or bond revocation hearings, the beyond a reasonable doubt standard is not appropriate for § 24-13-40 hearings. These hearings are not trials, and the defendant is not

being convicted of an additional crime. Cf. S.C. Code Ann. § 17-15-270 (establishing additional crime where defendant is convicted of subsequent offense while out on bond); see also State v. Parker, 267 S.C. 317, 326, 227 S.E.2d 677, 680 (1976) (holding statute providing distinct punishment for failure to appear for court created a separate crime distinct from court’s contempt power). Rather, the court is merely finding facts regarding the defendant’s conduct while out on bond in order to determine whether the defendant is statutorily entitled to credit for time served in relation to the crimes for which he is being convicted. The court’s reliance on the presumption of innocence was misplaced.

The trial court’s ruling requiring proof of a conviction in order to show the defendant “committed” another crime while out on bond would effectively require the State to hold a separate trial in order to properly sentence a defendant for the offense for which he has been convicted. This would produce an absurd result not intended by the legislature. See Taylor, 436 S.C. at 34, 870 S.E.2d at 171 (“The Court must reject a statutory interpretation if it leads to an absurd result that could not possibly have been intended by the legislature or that defeats plain legislative intent.”). Instead, the trial court must determine after a hearing—upon sufficient facts presented by the State—whether the defendant has committed a subsequent crime while out on bond and sentence the defendant accordingly.

The trial court committed an error of law when it refused to determine whether Gilliam “committed” a subsequent crime while out on bond and instead held § 24-13-40(3) requires proof of a conviction. This Court should reverse and remand for a hearing to determine whether Gilliam committed a crime while out on bond for the offenses to which he pled guilty.

**CONCLUSION**

For the foregoing reasons, this Court should reverse and remand.