RECEIVED

Feb 20 2026

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Abbeville County

Honorable Frank R. Addy, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

APPELLANT,

V.

RI'SHON KELTARIAN GILLIAM,

RESPONDENT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2024-001400

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

MOLLY M. KEEGAN
W. CHANDLER NORVILLE
Appellate Defenders

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

ARGUMENT

Because “the cornerstone of our judicial system” is the presumption of innocence, the plea court correctly determined that the phrase “commits...a crime” means “convicted” of a crime.

The state asserts that the plea court erred by “rel[ying] on the presumption of innocence.” BOA at 9. Because the plea court applied foundational and uncontroversial principals of criminal law to find the statute ambiguous and construed it strictly in Respondent’s favor, the order must be affirmed.

S.C. Code Ann. § 24-13-40(3) (hereinafter the “Statute”) was part of the 2023 Bond Reform law passed by the General Assembly and signed by Governor McMaster on June 20, 2023. *Bond Reform*, S.C. Acts No. 83, § 8 (2023). Prior to the passage of this act, there were only two exceptions to the general rule that all persons must be given full credit for time served: (1) the prisoner who was incarcerated pre-trial was an escapee; and (2) the prisoner was serving a sentence for one offense while awaiting trial on another. S.C. Code Ann. § 24-13-40 (West 2013). The Bond Reform law added two new exceptions: the one at issue here, and another that denies time-served credit for any person whose bond was revoked. S.C. Code Ann. § 24-13-40(3, 4) (current). South Carolina appears to be the only state with a similar sentencing regime. See Kimberly Ferzan, *The Trouble with Time Served*, 48 B.Y.U. L. Rev. 2001, 2005-06 & n.11 (2023) (collecting statutes).

This Court should affirm the plea court for three reasons. First, this Court should affirm without reaching the merits. The state dismissed all charges against Respondent that would have qualified as subsequent crimes under the Statute. Thus, it is barred from raising the issue now.

Second, the plea court's interpretation of the Statute is correct, as a matter of law. Finally, under the state's proposed interpretation, the Statute is unconstitutional.

I. The State's Arguments are Barred

First, this Court need not reach the merits of the state's arguments because the state is barred from raising the alleged error for two reasons. First, the state is collaterally estopped from complaining about the natural consequences of that action. Second, the state's core issue is not preserved for appellate review. For these reasons, this Court may affirm without reaching the merits.

a. The state is collaterally estopped from raising its arguments

First, this Court need not reach the merits of the state's arguments because the state is barred from raising the alleged error. Despite the state's contention that the plea court erred by awarding Respondent 342 days of credit pursuant to § 24-13-40(3), the state dismissed Respondent's charges that, by its own argument, served to satisfy the commission of "a subsequent offense while out on bond." BOA at 5-9; R. 25, ll. 5-9, 11-12; S.C. Code Ann. § 24-13-40(3). In effect, the state's own request to dismiss Respondent's subsequent charges underlies the alleged error it raises on appeal. Therefore, even if the court erred by awarding Respondent 342 days of time-served credit, the plea court did so, in part, because it determined that the subsequent charges were dismissed as part of the plea agreement, which was a direct result of the state's voluntary action. R. 24, ll. 18-23; *see State v. Quillien*, 263 S.C. 87, 96, 207 S.E.2d 814, 818 (1974) (citing *State v. Chasteen*, 242 S.C. 198, 130 S.E.2d 473 (1963) (explaining that "[e]ven if there were error, it was invited by counsel for Appellant, leaving Appellant in no position to complain.")).

Further, the state is collaterally estopped from raising the plea court's award of time-served credit on appeal because it dismissed all the charges that could have qualified as subsequent offenses committed while out on bond. *See State v. Snowdon*, 371 S.C. 331, 334, 638 S.E.2d 91, 93 (Ct. App. 2006) (explaining that collateral estoppel can be used in a criminal proceeding and "prevents a party from relitigating in a subsequent suit an issue actually and necessarily litigated and determined in a prior action."); *see also State v. Hewins*, 409 S.C. 93, 107, 760 S.E.2d 814, 821 (2014) (recognizing that "collateral estoppel in the criminal context is derived from the Fifth Amendment Double Jeopardy Clause."). The state's dismissal of Respondent's subsequent charges functioned as an agreement that those charges were void, and thus, to allow the state to renege on its agreement by challenging the court's ultimate award of time-served credit on appeal is inapposite. *See, e.g., Carter v. State*, 337 S.C. 17, 18, 522 S.E.2d 342, 343 (1999) (stating that "[w]here the State consents to the dismissal of a PCR application after the statute of limitations has run and agrees that the petitioner should be allowed to refile the application, the State is estopped from asserting the statute of limitations as a defense to a subsequent PCR application."). In addition, because the state necessarily litigated the issue of Respondent's commission of the subsequent charges by dismissing those charges, it cannot now ask this Court to relitigate the issue. *See Mackey v. State*, 357 S.C. 666, 668, 595 S.E.2d 241, 242 (2004) (holding that "all proceedings following an entry of a *nolle prosequi* are void because the indictment is no longer valid.").

Accordingly, the state is barred from challenging the plea court's award of time-served credit due to its own action of requesting dismissal of Respondent's subsequent charges in the plea court.

b. The state’s argument suggesting a hearing to “prove” the commission of the subsequent offense is not preserved for appellate review.

Second, to the extent the state asserts that the proper procedure for determining whether Respondent committed the “subsequent crime” is a preponderance bench proceeding, it made this argument to the plea court for the first time in a motion to reconsider. R. 52-53. Thus, the argument is not preserved for appellate review.

“It is settled that ‘[a]n issue may not be raised for the first time in a motion to reconsider.’” *Repko v. Georgetown Cnty.*, 424 S.C. 494, 502, 818 S.E.2d 743, 748 (2018) (quoting *Johnson v. Sonoco Prods. Co.*, 381 S.C. 172, 177, 672 S.E.2d 567, 570 (2009)). When an issue is not properly presented to the lower court, this Court will not reverse the lower court based on that issue. *Id.* at 503, 818 S.E.2d at 748 (“An appellate court may not reverse a lower court order based on a legal or factual premise not advanced by the party who lost at the trial court level.”). Our Supreme Court has repeatedly reaffirmed the “long-established preservation requirement that the losing party generally must both present his issues and arguments to the lower court and obtain a ruling before an appellate court will review those issues an arguments.” *Id.* (quoting *I’On, L.L.C. v. Town of Mt. Pleasant*, 338 S.C. 406, 422, 526 S.E.2d 716, 724 (2000)). While an appellate court may *affirm* for any reason appearing in the record, it “may not, of course, *reverse* for any reason appearing in the record.” *Id.* at 504, 818 S.E.2d at 748 (emphasis in original) (quoting *I’On*, 338 S.C. at 421-22, 526 S.E.2d at 724).

Here, the plea court at the plea hearing ordered Respondent credited for his time spent in pre-trial detention. R. 24, ll. 4 – 25, l. 4; R. 59-60. The state did not object to that ruling, other than to say it was objecting “under section 24-13-40, subsection 3.” R. 25, ll. 5-8, 11-12 (cleaned up). Then, for the first time in a motion to reconsider, the state proposed to the plea court that it should conduct a bench proceeding to determine whether Respondent had committed

the subsequent offense by a preponderance of evidence. R. 52-53. This is not the same argument that it made at the hearing nor is it a logical continuation of that argument. If the legal basis for this preponderance hearing could be deduced from the language of the Statute, perhaps the state's argument may be preserved. However, for the reasons discussed *infra*, the state's proposed hearing is not based on the text of the Statute at all. Therefore, it is not sufficient for the state to merely say it is "objecting under [the Statute]." Because the crux of the state's argument was raised for the first time in a motion to reconsider, its argument to this Court is not preserved for this Court's review. *Repko*, 424 S.C. at 502, 818 S.E.2d at 748.

II. The State's Interpretation of the Statute is Incorrect, as a Matter of Law.

The state's proposed interpretation of the Statute is erroneous for two reasons. First, the phrase "commits," in the criminal context, must mean "convicted of." Well-established principles of criminal law command that the Statute be read in that fashion, and in any event, the Statute is ambiguous. Second, to the extent it seeks to use the Statute to deny time-served credit which was accumulated *before* the subsequent arrest, this is contrary to the intent of the General Assembly. For these reasons, the plea court's order should be affirmed.

To reiterate, the Statute provides, in relevant part, "credit for time served prior to trial and sentencing shall not be given . . . when the prisoner commits a subsequent crime while out on bond." S.C. Code Ann. § 24-13-40(3). When interpreting a statute, its terms must be construed in context "and their meaning determined by looking at the other terms used in the statute." *Hinton v. S.C. Dept. of Probation, Parole, and Pardon Sys.*, 357 S.C. 327, 333, 592 S.E.2d 335, 338 (Ct. App. 2004). A word and its meaning should be construed in conjunction with the purpose of the entire statute and the policy behind the law. *Whitner v. State*, 328 S.C. 1, 6, 492 S.E.2d 777, 779 (1997). Sections of a statute that are part of the same legislative scheme must be

construed together and each given effect, if that can be done by any reasonable construction. *Higgins v. State*, 307 S.C. 446, 449, 415 S.E.2d 779, 801 (1992).

When a statute is “complete, plain, and unambiguous, legislative intent must be determined from the language of the statute itself.” *Whitner*, 328 S.C. at 6, 492 S.E.2d at 779. “Words must be given their plain and ordinary meaning without resorting to subtle or forced construction which limits or expands the statute’s operation.” *Hinton*, 357 S.C. at 333, 592 S.E.2d at 338 (citing, *inter alia*, *Rowe v. Hyatt*, 321 S.C. 366, 369, 468 S.E.2d 649, 650 (1996)). However, when a statute is ambiguous, the court may look elsewhere, beyond the plain text of the law for clues as to legislative intent. *Id.* at 334, 592 S.E.2d at 338. “Any ambiguity in a statute should be resolved in favor of a just, equitable, and beneficial operation of the law.” *Id.* (citing *City of Sumter Police Dept. v. One (1) 1992 Blue Mazda Truck*, 330 S.C. 371, 375, 498 S.E.2d 894, 896 (Ct. App. 1998)). And statutes that are penal in nature must be “strictly construed against the state and any doubt must be resolved in favor of the defendant . . .” *State v. Germany*, 216 S.C. 182, 188, 57 S.E.2d 165, 168 (1949).

a. “Commits” must mean “convicted of.”

First, the plea court found that “commits,” as that word is used in the Statute, must mean “convicted of.” R. 55. According to the plea court, “criminal liability obviously does not attach to one who commits a crime until such time as they are convicted. If the presumption of innocence is to have any meaning, that is what it must mean.” R. 55 (emphasis deleted). The plea court also “clearly” found that “some measure of ambiguity is present in the [S]tatute.” R. 55. It also appeared to operate under the well-established principle that ambiguities in penal statutes must be resolved in the defendant’s favor. R. 5 (citing, *inter alia*, *State v. DeAngelis*, 257 S.C. 44, 183 S.E.2d 906 (1971)).

When “construing a criminal statute, we are guided by the rule of lenity—the principle that any ambiguity must be resolved in favor of the accused.” *Berry v. State*, 381 S.C. 630, 633, 675 S.E.2d 425, 426 (2009); *see also State v. Blackmon*, 304 S.C. 270, 273, 403 S.E.2d 660, 662 (1991) (“[W]hen a statute is penal in nature, it must be construed strictly against the State and in favor of the defendant.”). This rule applies to sentencing as well. *DeAngelis*, 257 S.C. at 50, 183 S.E.2d at 909 (explaining that “[a]mbiguity or doubts relative to a sentence should be resolved in favor of the accused.”)

The state challenges the plea court’s finding that “commits” must mean “convicted of” in two ways. First, the state asserts that the Statute is unambiguous. BOA at 6. Second, after it appeared at the plea hearing unprepared to address Respondent’s arguments and did not get its way, the state proposed that this Court should create, from whole cloth, a new procedure for determining whether a subsequent crime has been committed: a bench proceeding where the state would prove the offense by a preponderance of evidence. BOA at 7. According to the state, the plea court’s “reliance on the presumption of innocence was misplaced,” and “requiring proof of a conviction in order to show the defendant ‘committed’ another crime while out on bond would effectively require the state to hold a separate trial in order to properly sentence a defendant for the offense for which he has been convicted.” BOA at 9. The state calls the idea that it should have to try people for crimes they have been arrested for an “absurd result.” BOA at 9. The state’s arguments are misguided.

The Statute provides that time-served credit shall be denied “when the prisoner commits a subsequent crime while out on bond.” S.C. Code Ann. § 24-13-40(3). The state ignores the fact that when a person is alleged to have committed a crime, the law presumes them innocent

until they moment they are convicted. This concept has existed for nearly four thousand years.³ Moreover, the “General Assembly is presumed to be aware of the common law.” *State v. Bridgers*, 329 S.C. 11, 14, 495 S.E.2d 196, 197-98 (1997). And “where a statute uses a term that has a well-recognized meaning in the law, the presumption is that the General Assembly intended to use the term in that sense.” *Id.* “If the presumption of innocence is to have any meaning, that is what it must mean.” R. 55 (emphasis deleted)).

Each of the state’s counterarguments are unavailing.

First, the state asserts that the existence of another portion of the Bond Reform Act, the new offense of commission of a violent offense while under bond order for a previous violent crime, demonstrates that the General Assembly intentionally omitted the words “convicted” from the statute. BOA at 7. The statute establishing the criminal offense cited by the state reads:

It is unlawful for a person to commit a violent crime while under a bond order or other pretrial release order for a previous violent crime. If the person is convicted of the subsequent violent crime, and is thereafter convicted of a violation of this section, the person is guilty of a felony and must be imprisoned not more than five years.

S.C. Code Ann. § 17-15-270. The state asserts that the use of both “commit” and “convicted” in the same statute, but in different contexts, shows that the General Assembly intended for these words to be interpreted to mean different things. BOA at 7. However, this ignores the full text. Rather, what this section provides is that a person is guilty of a separate crime if they are: (1) out on bond for a violent crime; (2) commit a subsequent crime; and (3) are thereafter *convicted of both crimes*. See S.C. Code Ann. § 17-15-270.

³ Francois Quintard-Morenas, *The Presumption of Innocence in the French and Anglo-American Legal Traditions*, 58 AM. J. COMPARATIVE L. 107, 110 (2010) (the legal principal that an accuser bears the burden to prove the guilt of the accused was included in the Code of Hammurabi, which was created sometime between 1792 and 1750 B.C.).

The state asserts that “commission of a crime and the defendant’s later being convicted of that crime are two distinct elements with different meanings (and different consequences) under the statutory scheme.” BOA at 7 (internal quotation marks omitted). While it is true that temporally the “commission” of a crime and the later conviction for that crime may occur at separate points in time, it is not necessarily true that the two have different meanings or different consequences. For instance, § 17-15-270 does not permit punishment unless a defendant is *convicted of both crimes*.

The offense of commission of a violent offense while under bond order for a previous violent crime is not committed by merely committing a subsequent crime while out on bond for another offense. It is committed if, and *only* if, the state proves beyond a reasonable doubt that a defendant committed the first offense, proves beyond a reasonable doubt that he was on bond for that offense, and then proves beyond a reasonable doubt that he committed a subsequent offense.⁴

Further, several other criminal statutes do not use the “commits, convicted of” language, and there can be no argument that those statutes represent intent by the General Assembly to provide for summary punishment without conviction. *See, e.g.*, S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-653 (“A person is guilty of criminal sexual conduct in the second degree if [elements] . . . Criminal sexual conduct in the second degree is a felony punishable by . . .”).

⁴ It must also be noted that the penalty for this offense is a maximum term of imprisonment of five years. S.C. Code Ann. § 17-15-270. And the only way to commit the offense is to commit two entirely separate violent offenses. *Id.* It would be quite illogical if the General Assembly intended to deny someone several years of time-served credit for pre-trial detention because of a subsequent arrest for *any* crime—including something so minor as “disorderly conduct” R. 21, l. 22 – 22, l. 4—but provide an absolute maximum punishment of five years’ imprisonment when a convicted violent criminal is convicted of a second, unrelated violent crime.

Second, citing *State v. Miller*, 122 S.C. 468, 115 S.E. 742 (1923), the state points out that a preponderance standard—or something like it—is used in probation revocation hearings to determine whether a suspended sentence should be activated. These situations are inapposite.

To start, “probation is a matter of *grace*.” *State v. Allen*, 370 S.C. 88, 94, 634 S.E.2d 653, 655 (2006) (emphasis added (quoting *State v. White*, 218 S.C. 130, 135, 61 S.E.2d 754, 756 (1950))). A person who commits a crime has no constitutional or even statutory right to a sentence of probation, and no criminal statute provides for probation as the only lawful sentence. A probation revocation can be accomplished by a lower standard of proof, because the probationer is already being given a benefit to which he is not entitled. In contrast, a defendant has both a statutory, S.C. Code Ann. § 24-13-40(3), and constitutional right, *see infra*, § III, to their time-served credit. Further, a person cannot be placed on probation unless they have already been *convicted* of the offense for which they are on probation. A person need only be arrested to be under bond order.

Further, the state proposes an entirely new procedure for determining whether a crime has been “committed.” The General Assembly provided for no such proceeding in the Statute at issue, despite expressly doing so in the two circumstances that the state asserts are directly analogous: probation revocation hearings and bond revocation hearings. *See, e.g.*, S.C. Code Ann. § 24-21-460 (probation revocation hearings); *id.* § 17-15-55 (bond revocation hearings).⁵

⁵ The state simultaneously argues that the Statute is unambiguous and that this Court should read an entirely new hearing requirement into the Statute. That argument is self-defeating. “When the language of a statute is clear and explicit, a court cannot rewrite the statute and inject matters into it which are not in the legislature’s language . . .” *Hodges v. Rainey*, 341 S.C. 79, 87, 553 S.E.2d 578, 582 (2000). Even if the General Assembly had intended such a hearing—an unlikely proposition, given that the General Assembly did not write that into the Statute—this fact would not make the state’s position legally sound. “While it is true that the purpose of an enactment will prevail over the literal import of the statute, *this does not mean that this Court can completely rewrite a plain statute.*” *Id.* (emphasis added).

The absence of such language in the Statute here is dispositive evidence that the General Assembly did not intend for this Court to read such a requirement into the Statute. *See Bessinger v. R-N-M Builders & Associates, LLC*, 421 S.C. 349, 358, 806 S.E.2d 731, 736 (Ct. App. 2017) (“What a legislature says in the text of a statute is considered the best evidence of the legislative intent or will.” (internal quotations and citation omitted)). It is also good evidence that the General Assembly intended the word “commits” to mean “convicted of.” The General Assembly did not provide for any procedure to determine when a person “commits” a crime, nor did it attempt to define that term. This is most likely because the General Assembly intended “commits a crime” to be read in the same way it is always read: as “convicted” of a crime.

Third, and finally, the state asserts that the plea court’s ruling “would effectively require the state to hold a separate trial in order to properly sentence a defendant for the offense for which he has been convicted.” BOA at 9. According to the state, this result would be “absurd.” BOA at 9. A court must reject a potential interpretation of a statute if it “leads to an absurd result that could *not possibly have been intended* by the legislature or that defeats plain legislative intent.” *State v. Taylor*, 436 S.C. 28, 34, 870 S.E.2d 168, 171 (2022) (emphasis added). “Absurdity,” therefore, is a very high bar, where only the most egregious contortions of a statute will be rejected for that reason. A reading which requires the state to convict people of crimes at trial, rather than at a summary bench proceeding based on nothing but the fact of an arrest, is far from absurd. On the contrary, it would be an absurd reading of the Statute to read it to require a defendant to lose potentially years of time-served credit because of an arrest for “disorderly conduct,” an offense for which the General Assembly provided a maximum punishment of thirty days’ imprisonment or a \$100 fine. S.C. Code Ann. § 16-17-530(A)

(defining disorderly conduct); R. 21, l. 22 – 22, l. 4 (solicitor asserted that the Statute requires a loss of time-served credit for *any* subsequent arrest, even if it is for “disorderly conduct”).

For one, in this case, *the state* decided to dismiss Respondent’s 2024 charges. Only the state can enter a *nolle prosequi* on an indictment, and if it wanted to seek Respondent’s conviction of both the 2023 and 2024 charges, it did not have to dismiss the subsequent charges.⁶ The state exercises a great deal of control over plea dealing, which is the result of more than nine out of every ten criminal cases.⁷ Even in those rare cases where a criminal defendant will demand trials on two separate counts, nothing in the Statute prevents the Department of Corrections from retroactively altering the release dates of prisoners convicted of subsequent offenses. In fact, there are currently numerous processes for revoking, for example, good time credit that function similarly.⁸

Therefore, it is difficult to see how a statutory scheme requiring the state to prove criminal acts at trial—as it must in every other criminal case and has been required to since

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